UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

11-25-2015

Cosio-Nava v. State Appellant's Brief Dckt. 43389

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. This is an appeal from a denial of the Appellant's Petition for Post-conviction relief

for ineffective assistance of counsel.

```
B. The Appellant filed a petition for post-conviction relief on November 20, 2014. A
```

hearing was held on May 6, 2015 on the allegations contained in the petition. The court issued a

memorandum decision on May 18, 2015, denying the Appellant's petition.

FACTS

On July 14, 2015 the outcome pleaded guilty to the crime of Domestic Violence, but

felony pursuant to Idaho Code 18-903 and 18-918(2). In exchange for his plea, Mr. Cosio was to

receive a recommended sentence from state of Idaho which consisted of a three year fixed term of incarceration to be followed by a four-year indeterminate period of incarceration, along with a fine of \$2500. As long as Mr. Cosio was current with his treatment and attendance at AA meetings, the state would further recommend probation after completion of 30 days of County jail with work-release. At the time, Mr. Cosio is represented by Steven McRae a criminal defense attorney.

As part of the plea process, the court entered into a colloquy with Mr. Cosio regarding his rights. Part of this process involved in acquiring of Mr. Cosio with regard to his immigration status in the United States. At one point, the court inquired of Mr. McRae as to whether there were any immigration issues. Mr. McRae responded "Not at the present time, Your Honor, no. And we discussed that-we discussed that he is in the process of seeking to become a legal citizen and he understands that this can conflict with that."¹ The court questioned Mr. Cosio regarding deportation and whether he "could" possibly be deported pending on his immigration status. The Court also informed of Mr. Cosio that he could lose your opportunity to become a citizen because of his plea. To this line of questioning, Mr. Cosio acknowledged and stated that he understood.²

On September 8, 2014, Mr. Cosio was sentenced and the court followed the terms of the plea agreement. On October 21, 2014, Mr. Cosio was taken into custody by Immigration and Custom Enforcement. The charging documents given to Mr. Cosio by immigration officials stated that he was subject to removal from the United States as he was a lawful permanent

¹ Exhibit 102 at 8.

 $^{^{2}}$ Id. at 8-9.

resident who had been convicted of a crime of domestic violence and also for an aggravated felony.³

Mr. Cosio was then put into removal proceedings by immigration and was removed from the United States and returned to his native country about Mexico. Mr. Cosio filed a petition for postconviction relief claiming that his attorney did not properly advise him of the consequences off his plea as it pertained to his immigration status. At all times pertinent to this particular case, Mr. Cosio was a lawful permanent resident of the United States until he was remove back to Mexico. He was not a citizen. Mr. Cosio testified by way of telephone from Mexico and stated that his attorney did not advised in properly with regard to the immigration consequences of his plea.⁴ Mr. McRae then testified and stated that he did inform Mr. Cosio of the immigration consequences off his plea. However, Mr. McRae did acknowledge that he informed the court that the immigration consequences facing Mr. Cosio involved a question as to whether Mr. Cosio would be eligible to receive citizenship, and made no comment the court with regard to the eventual loss of Mr. Cosio' legal resident status.⁵ The parties then briefed the legal issues involved in the case, and the court rendered its decision, finding that Mr. Cosio had not received ineffective assistance of counsel. Mr. Cosio has appealed the decision of the District Court denying his petition for postconviction relief.

ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. The court erred in denying the Appellant's petition by not finding his attorney's representation to be deficient with respect to the impact his plea and sentence would have on the Appellant's immigration status as a lawful permanent resident.

³ See Clerk's Record at 39.

⁴ Reporter's Transcript of Post Conviction Hearing at 10-13.

⁵ *Id*.at 22-23; 26-27.

ARGUMENT

I. The court erred in denying Mr. Cosio's petition for postconviction relief. Mr. Cosio established that his attorney was deficient in the advice given to him with regard to his immigration status and effect the same had on his immigration status.

The standard of review for postconviction relief cases is governed by Idaho Code §§ 19-4901 through 4911. Additionally, postconviction relief proceedings are civil in nature and are therefore governed by the Idaho Rules of Civil Procedure.⁶ "When reviewing a decision denying post-conviction relief after an evidentiary hearing, an appellate court will not disturb the lower court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous."⁷

In order to prevail upon a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel through a postconviction relief petition, the petitioner must establish that his attorney's representation was deficient, and that he was prejudiced by the deficiency.⁸ When the accusation of ineffective assistance of counsel is based upon the entry of a plea of guilty, the petitioner must also establish that but for the plea of guilty, he or she would have insisted on taking the case to trial.⁹

This case has the added dimension of the question as to whether Mr. Cosio was properly advised of the immigration consequences of his plea. The United States Supreme Court has set forth the standard with regard to an attorney's duty with regard to informing the client with regard to the immigration consequences of plea. The standard set out in the case of *Padilla v*. *Kentucky* states as follows:

When the law is not succinct and straightforward, a criminal defense attorney need do no more than advise a noncitizen client that pending criminal charges may carry a risk of adverse immigration consequences. But when the deportation consequence is truly clear, as it was in this case, the duty to give correct advice is equally clear.¹⁰

⁶ <u>Dunlap v. State</u>, 146 Idaho 197, 199, 192 P.3d 1021, 1023 (2008).

⁷ Popoca-Garcia v. State, 157 Idaho 150, 151-52, 334 P.3d 824, 825-26 (Ct. App. 2014)(citations omitted).

⁸ Id.

⁹ Id.

¹⁰ Padilla v. Kentucky, 559 U.S. 356, 369, 130 S.Ct. 1473, 1483 (2010)

Given these standards, Mr. Cosio argues that the initial starting point with regard to analysis of this particular problem, has to center upon the immigration consequences of Mr. Cosio's plea.

Mr. Cosio pleaded guilty to a felony crime, domestic violence with traumatic injury, for which the maximum penalty is 10 years in prison and a \$10,000 fine. By pleading guilty to a crime which carried this type of penalty, Mr. Cosio put himself into the category that would automatically strip him of his lawful permanent residency in the United States. This category is what is known as an "aggravated felony" conviction. An "aggravated felony" is defined in 8 USC § 1101 (a) (43). For the purposes of Mr. Cosio's case the applicable definition is found in (F) of this subparagraph. It states that an aggravated felony is "a crime of violence (as defined in section 16 of title 18, United States Code, but not including a purely political offense) which the term of imprisonment at least one year."¹¹ The two triggering factors for this definition are one, conviction for a crime of violence, and two, the imposition of a jail sentence of at least one year. Even though a prison sentence may be suspended and an individual placed on probation, the suspended prison time is sufficient to satisfy this definition and trigger immigration consequences for such a conviction.¹²

Under such a scenario, the immigration consequences of Mr. Cosio's plea would fall squarely into the second part of the *Padilla* definition of ineffective assistance of counsel. In other words, the immigration consequence was clear, and therefore, the duty to give more than just general advice was also clear. Mr. Cosio's attorney did not satisfy this particular obligation. As has been stated in this brief, during the plea colloquy, Mr. Cosio's attorney stated that there

¹¹ The footnote to this code section states that wording was left out of this section which should state "... Is at least...".

¹² See U.S. v. Banda-Zamora, 178 F.3d 728 (5th Cir. 1999).

were no immigration consequences at this time. He then followed up this statement by clarifying that Mr. Cosio's plea would cause him to lose the opportunity at obtaining citizenship. This statement indicates that Mr. Cosio's attorney did not have an adequate understanding of the consequences which Mr. Cosio faced at the time he entered his plea.¹³

The court in its decision on Mr. Cosio's petition, states that Mr. McRae's testimony during the post-conviction hearing was credible and sufficient to explain the obvious contradiction of the statement given at the change of plea hearing. Mr. Cosio argues that more weight should be given to Mr. McRae's statement given at the time of the change of plea hearing, since that statement was near in time to any discussion between himself and Mr. Cosio with regard to immigration consequences.

There is a vast difference between stating that one will become ineligible to receive citizenship from being a deportable individual. Lawful permanent residents are allowed to live in this country as long as they desire, unless their activity places them in jeopardy of losing that residency. Filing an application to become a citizen, and having the same rejected, is not synonymous with being removed from the United States. They are as different as apples are from oranges. Representation to the court that Cosio was not facing any immigration consequences and that the only thing matter of concern would be that of losing the opportunity for citizenship simply did not reflect the truth of the situation. If Mr. McRae had indeed informed Mr. Cosio

¹³ See, e.g. Mora-Zamora v. Ashcroft, 41 F. App'x 969, 970 (9th Cir. 2002) "Mora-Zamora is removable and statutorily ineligible for cancellation of removal because he has been convicted of two aggravated felonies, as defined by 8 U.S.C. § 1101(a)(43)(F). [3] See id. §§ 1227(a)(2)(A)(iii), 1229b(a)(3). Mora-Zamora's contention that his prior convictions for harassment and domestic violence do not constitute aggravated felonies is without merit. See 8 U.S.C. § 1101(a)(43)(F) aggravated felony defined as crime of violence for which one year of imprisonment is imposed). Mora-Zamora's contention that because a portion of each of his sentences was suspended, he was not sentenced to one year of imprisonment, is similarly without merit. See 8 U.S.C. § 1101(a)(48)(B) term of imprisonment refers to the period of incarceration imposed by court regardless of a partial or total suspension thereof)."

that he would be removed from the United States as a result of his plea and sentencing to the crime of domestic violence, then a statement confirming such a communication between Mr. Cosio and Mr. McCrea would've been the only answer pertinent and relevant during the change of plea colloquy with the court. The answer given by Mr. McRae to the court's question was not relevant to Mr. Cosio's predicament.

II. The Appellant demonstrated prejudice in his claim.

The standard for ineffective assistance of counsel which is at issue in this case, was established by the United States Court and states as follows:

First, the defendant must show that counsel's performance was deficient. This requires showing that counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the "counsel" guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment. Second, the defendant must show that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense.¹⁴

The United States Supreme Court further stated that "[t]he defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different."¹⁵

The court in its interpretation of Idaho law leaves one with the impression that Mr. Cosio would have withdrawn his plea and proceeded to trial but for the deficient advice given to him by counsel. However the *Strickland* case does not view of the postconviction relief process as one that necessarily requires that a plea be withdrawn and proceed to trial. In fact, in the *Strickland* case, the defendant pleaded guilty to three murder charges. The alleged that his attorney did not present certain evidence at the sentencing hearing which resulted in the defendant receiving the death penalty. The court's examination of the facts indicate that the

¹⁴ Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2064 (1984)

¹⁵ Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S.at 694, 104 S.Ct. at 2068.

result being sought depends upon the proceeding and in the case of *Strickland* the proceeding was a sentencing hearing as opposed to the option of trial.

Mr. Cosio argues that criminal defense cases generally fall into three categories. First, there are those cases which have a very good defense, and the likelihood that such cases would proceed to trial is very high. Second, there are cases which the defense to the charge is slight or almost nonexistent, and therefore the strategy in that case may be to secure a favorable outcome during sentencing after plea negotiations have resulted in an acceptable plea bargain. Third, there are other cases which fall into a mixed category where defenses to some portion of the case may be strong and weaker in other parts, and therefore there is more difficulty in determining whether a plea would be more appropriate or taking the case to trial would be the best option.

According to Mr. McRae's testimony during the postconviction hearing, it appeared that it was his opinion that the second option was the best available to Mr. Cosio. In other words, Mr. McRae did not believe that there was a viable defense to be presented at trial.¹⁶ Consequently a strategy was adopted to secure a favorable sentence for Mr. Cosio after participation in some counseling.¹⁷ Unfortunately for Mr. Cosio, his attorney did not take into account the most work factor in that sentence, which was the impact it would have upon his lawful permanent resident status. Therefore, under the *Strickland* standard the pertinent question would not be whether Mr. Cosio would have sought to have his plea withdrawn and gone to trial, but rather the inquiry should focus on whether but for counsel's performance in the case the outcome would have been different.

Mr. Cosio took this approach during the postconviction trial, by arguing that Mr. Cosio had other options available to him in his case. This argument was made to establish that there

¹⁶ Post Conviction Hearing Transcript at 19-20.

¹⁷ Id. at 16-17.

was prejudice to Mr. Cosio which involved the particular sentence sought by his counsel. As the court stated in *Padilla*, where the immigration consequences clear, then there is a duty to advise the client as to that very same consequence. In this particular case, the consequence of deportation or removability from the United States was not in question. Mr. Cosio should have been advised of that fact, and that there were other options available to him. No effort was made by Mr. Cosio's counsel to ascertain whether there were other options available. During the postconviction hearing counsel for Mr. Cosio explained that there were other attorneys of whom he was aware, who could provide specific information with regard to this question. However at no time for any of those attorneys consulted in order to develop a strategy for sentencing case.¹⁸

The court further discounted of Mr. Cosio's argument during the postconviction hearing that if Mr. McCree had had a true understanding of Mr. Cosio's predicament, then he would have argued for a withheld judgment. The court in its memorandum decision stated that this would would not have assisted Mr. Cosio, as he still would have had a "conviction" under immigration law. This statement is not accurate and is not a proper interpretation of an aggravated felony conviction under immigration law.

As stated earlier in this brief, 8 USC § 1101 (a) (43) requires two things for an individual to be convicted of an outdated felony under immigration law: First, the crime must be a crime of violence; Second, it must be a crime for which the term of imprisonment for a year or longer is imposed. The phrase "term of imprisonment" does not refer to the maximum penalty that could be imposed, but refers to the actual time given under any particular sentence.¹⁹ In other words, if an individual pleads guilty to a crime such as domestic violence, but then is given a sentence of

¹⁸ Post Conviction Transcript at 23-24.

¹⁹ United States v. Pimentel-Flores, 339 F.3d 959, 962 (9th Cir. 2003).

364 days in jail, he would not be guilty of an aggravated felony under immigration law because the sentence imposed was less than 365 days. Consequently, that individual also would not be removable because his conviction does not qualify as an aggravated felony under immigration law.

Pursuant to ICR 33(d) the court has the authority to withhold judgment when imposing sentence. In a case such as Mr. Cosio's a strategy could be adopted which would save his lawful permanent residency in the United States by petitioning for a withheld judgment. As long as the court did not impose a sentence of imprisonment, and placed the individual on probation, then an individual such as Mr. Cosio would not be removable, as long as he abided by the terms and conditions of probation. If the individual violated his probation and was brought before the court and because of a probation violation a term of imprisonment was then imposed, even though it may be suspended, he would then be subject to removal by Immigration and Custom Enforcement agents.

If such an option was to be exercised by Mr. Cosio's attorney, then his statement during the change of plea colloquy would be accurate, in that it would depend upon the actual sentence to be given by the court later date. However, in this case, Mr. Cosio's attorney did not petition the court for a withheld judgment nor did he seek any such recommendation through his negotiations with the state of Idaho. In fact, the strategy of adopted in this case appeared to be one of trying to live under the radar, and hope that immigration would be ignorant of Mr. Cosio's status after his sentencing.²⁰

In *Padilla* the court stated that where the immigration consequences may be unclear, then an attorney has a duty to merely advise. However the court stated that where the consequences

²⁰ See Post Conviction Hearing Transcript at 17-18.

are clear there is a greater duty. This is not a case where Mr. Cosio did not have any options. He clearly had options available to him with regard to a favorable resolution of this case in spite of his conviction. Those options were not pursued and he suffered the consequences.

CONCLUSION

It is therefore respectfully submitted that Mr. Cosio did not receive adequate assistance

by his attorney and that he was prejudiced by the ineffective assistance of counsel.