# Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

2-16-2016

# Cosio-Nava v. State Respondent's Brief Dckt. 43389

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### Nature Of The Case

Miguel Cosio-Nava appeals from the denial, after an evidentiary hearing, of his petition for post-conviction relief.

#### Statement Of The Facts And Course Of The Proceedings

Cosio-Nava filed a petition for post-conviction relief, challenging his felony conviction for domestic violence. (R., pp. 4-6.) Cosio-Nava asserted his trial counsel was ineffective for inadequately advising him of the "immigration consequences of his plea." (Id.) The case proceeded to an evidentiary hearing. (R., pp. 47-50.)

At the hearing, Cosio-Nava testified that his attorney "never mentioned" that he would lose his lawful permanent resident status or "anything about immigration, deportation ... [or] citizenship." (Tr., p. 10, L. 24 – p. 11, L. 3; p. 11, Ls. 14-18.) Trial counsel testified that he told Cosio-Nava that his "understanding" was that Cosio-Nava "would lose his right to be in the United States." (Tr., p. 17, L. 15 – p. 18, L. 13.) Cosio-Nava introduced documents showing he was deported because he was convicted of a crime that met the definitions of "domestic violence," 8 U.S.C. § 1227(a)(2)(E)(i) and "aggravated felony," 8 U.S.C. § 1227(a)(2)(A)(iii). (Exhibits, pp. 4, 8-9.)

Finding the testimony of trial counsel more credible, the district court found Cosio-Nava had not proved deficient performance. (R., pp. 60-64.) The district court also found Cosio-Nava had presented no evidence of prejudice. (R., pp. 64-66.) Cosio-Nava timely appealed from entry of judgment. (R., pp. 68-73.)

#### <u>ISSUE</u>

Cosio-Nava states the issue on appeal as:

The court erred in denying the Appellant's petition by not finding his attorney's representation to be deficient with respect to the impact his plea and sentence would have on the Appellant's immigration status as a lawful permanent resident.

(Appellant's brief, p. 3.1)

The state rephrases the issue as:

Has Cosio-Nava failed to show either clear error in the district court's factual findings or error in the application of the law to the facts?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The pages of the Appellant's brief are not numbered. All page numbers cited herein are approximate.

#### **ARGUMENT**

Cosio-Nava Has Failed To Show Either Clear Error In The District Court's Factual Findings Or Error In The Application Of The Law To The Facts

#### A. Introduction

The district court found Cosio-Nava had failed to prove deficient performance or prejudice. (R., pp. 60-64.) On appeal Cosio-Nava argues that the district court should have given "more weight" to trial counsel's statements at the plea hearing, and thus rejected his trial testimony and found deficient performance. (Appellant's brief, p. 6.) He also argues that the district court should have found prejudice because trial counsel failed to obtain a withheld judgment at sentencing. (Appellant's brief, pp. 7-10.) Cosio-Nava's argument does not withstand analysis.

#### B. <u>Standard Of Review</u>

"Applications for post-conviction relief under the UPCPA initiate civil proceedings in which, like a civil plaintiff, the applicant must prove his or her allegations by a preponderance of the evidence." McKay v. State, 148 Idaho 567, 570, 225 P.3d 700, 703 (2010). When the district court conducts an evidentiary hearing and enters findings of fact and conclusions of law, an appellate court will disturb the findings of fact only if they are clearly erroneous, but will freely review the conclusions of law drawn by the district court from those facts. Mitchell v. State, 132 Idaho 274, 276-77, 971 P.2d 727, 729-730 (1998). A trial court's decision that a post-conviction petitioner has not met his burden of proof is entitled to great weight. Sanders v. State, 117 Idaho 939, 940, 792 P.2d

964, 965 (Ct. App. 1990). The credibility of the witnesses, the weight to be given to their testimony, and the inferences to be drawn from the evidence are all matters solely within the province of the district court. Peterson v. State, 139 Idaho 95, 97, 73 P.3d 108, 110 (Ct. App. 2003).

## C. <u>Cosio-Nava Has Shown No Error In The District Court's Finding Of No Deficient Performance, Which Was Based On A Credibility Determination</u>

Where the petitioner alleges entitlement to relief based upon ineffective assistance of counsel, he must show that his attorney's performance was objectively deficient and that he was prejudiced by that deficiency. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687-88 (1984); Aragon v. State, 114 Idaho 758, 760-61, 760 P.2d 1174, 1176-77 (1988). To show deficient performance, the petitioner must "overcome the strong presumption that counsel's performance was adequate by demonstrating 'that counsel's representation did not meet objective standards of competence." Vick v. State, 131 Idaho 121, 124, 952 P.2d 1257, 1260 (Ct. App. 1998) (quoting Roman v. State, 125 Idaho 644, 648-49, 873 P.2d 898, 902-03 (Ct. App. 1994)). Appellate courts "will not second guess counsel without evidence of inadequate preparation, ignorance of the relevant law, or other shortcomings capable of objective evaluation." State v. Chapman, 120 Idaho 466, 469-470, 816 P.2d 1023, 1026-27 (Ct. App. 1991) (citations omitted). In cases where "the deportation consequence" of a guilty plea "is truly clear," an attorney has an equally clear "duty to give correct advice." Padilla v. Kentucky, 559 U.S. 356, 369 (2010).

Trial counsel testified that he told Cosio-Nava that his "understanding" was that, by accepting the state's plea agreement and pleading guilty to the crime of domestic violence, Cosio-Nava "would lose his right to be in the United States." (Tr., p. 17, L. 15 – p. 18, L. 13.) The district court found this testimony credible, and found that this was the advice given by counsel. (R., pp. 60-64.) This was certainly correct legal advice.

The Immigration and Naturalization Act ("INA") provides that an alien convicted of an "aggravated felony" is "deportable." 8 U.S.C. § 1227(a)(2)(A)(iii). Under the INA an "aggravated felony" includes any "crime of violence" for which "the term of imprisonment [is] at least one year." 8 U.S.C. § 1101(a)(43)(F). A "crime of violence" is defined as "an offense that has as an element the use, attempted use, or threatened use of physical force against the person or property of another." 18 U.S.C. § 16(a). Cosio-Nava was convicted of domestic violence for battering a household member causing a traumatic injury, a felony punishable by up to ten years. I.C. § 19-918(2). Cosio-Nava was thus deportable for having committed an "aggravated felony."

The INA also provides that an alien convicted of "a crime of domestic violence" is "deportable." 8 U.S.C. § 1227(a)(2)(E)(i). A crime of domestic violence is defined as a "crime of violence" against a person with whom the alien has a domestic relationship. Id. A "crime of violence" is defined as "an offense that has as an element the use, attempted use, or threatened use of physical force against the person or property of another." 18 U.S.C. § 16(a). Cosio-Nava was thus also deportable for having committed a "crime of domestic violence." In

fact, both of these bases were ultimately listed as reasons for Cosio-Nava's deportation. (Exhibits, pp. 4, 8-9.)

On appeal Cosio-Nava argues that the district court should have found that trial counsel's advice was limited to what counsel put on the record at the guilty plea hearing. (Appellant's brief, pp. 4-7.) The flaw in this argument is that it assumes that trial counsel put on the record at the guilty plea hearing all the advice he gave his client. Counsel explained in his testimony that his "answer to the Court wasn't full. If I would have explained more, it would have been what I testified today." (Tr., p. 29, Ls. 16-18.) The district court was well within its exclusive province to find this testimony credible. Cosio-Nava has failed to show error in the district court's conclusion that he failed to prove deficient performance.

#### D. <u>Cosio-Nava Has Shown No Error In The District Court's Finding He</u> Presented No Evidence Of Prejudice

Cosio-Nava had the "burden of showing how trial counsel's allegedly deficient performance caused prejudice." Kuehl v. State, 145 Idaho 607, 611, 181 P.3d 533, 537 (Ct. App. 2008). When the alleged deficiency involves counsel's advice in relation to a guilty plea, "in order to satisfy the 'prejudice' requirement, the defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, he would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial." Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 58 (1985) (footnote and citations omitted). "Moreover, to obtain relief on this type of claim, a petitioner must convince the court that a decision to reject the plea bargain would have

been rational under the circumstances." <u>Padilla</u>, 559 U.S. at 372 (citing <u>Roe v. Flores-Ortega</u>, 528 U.S. 470 (2000)).

The district court rejected Cosio-Nava's allegation of prejudice as follows:

The petitioner never testified as to what his decision would have been in view of the immigration consequences. Simply, there is no evidence in the record as to the decision that the Petitioner would have made in light of the immigration consequences or whether such a decision would have "been rational under the circumstances."

(R., p. 65.) Review of the transcript shows that Cosio-Nava presented no evidence that he would have rejected the state's plea offer and gone to trial had he known of the potential immigration consequences of his guilty plea. (Tr., p. 10, L. 6 – p. 12, L. 12.) Cosio-Nava's claim of prejudice necessarily fails because he presented no evidence that he was prejudiced by the advice counsel actually gave him. See Icanovic v. State, 159 Idaho 524, \_\_\_\_, 363 P.3d 365, 372 (2015) (prejudice claim fails where based on a "false assertion" of what counsel advised).

On appeal Cosio-Nava argues that he was prejudiced by trial counsel's failure to obtain a withheld judgment. (Appellant's brief, pp. 7-11.) Even accepting what the state considers the dubious legal merit of such an argument,<sup>2</sup> this legal theory is still without any basis in the evidence. There is simply no

<sup>2</sup> The entire argument appears to be based on *dicta* from a Ninth Circuit case that

the court will look to the actual sentence imposed instead of the potential sentence, and extrapolates that a withheld judgment results in a sentence of less than a year and therefore there was no "aggravated felony." (Appellant's brief, p. 9, n. 19 (citing <u>United States v. Pimentel-Flores</u>, 339 F.3d 959, 962 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2003).) The INA, however, seems to specifically negate the defense that a

withheld judgement prevents deportation. 8 U.S.C. § 1101(a)(48)(A). The state further notes that Cosio-Nava's argument fails to address the alternate grounds for his deportation—that he committed a crime of domestic violence.

evidence that any deficiency in advising Cosio-Nava regarding the immigration consequences of pleading guilty caused the specific prejudice of failure to obtain a withheld judgment. Cosio-Nava's argument is meritless.

#### CONCLUSION

The state respectfully requests this Court to affirm the district court's judgment denying post-conviction relief.